FILED July 6, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72068-6-I Corrected copy

72068-6

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRUCE HUMMEL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

 The prosecution failed to prove the essential elements of first degree murder, resulting in a conviction imposed in violation of Mr.
 Hummel's right to due process of law.

2. The prosecution failed to prove the essential elements of first degree murder under the law of the case doctrine.

3. The State did not meet its burden of proving the prosecution occurred in the proper venue, over Mr. Hummel's objection.

4. The court denied Mr. Hummel his right to due process of law and to meaningfully defend against the charge by refusing his request for inferior included offense instructions.

5. Mr. Hummel was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel in deciding whether to ask for a lesser degree offense instruction of second degree murder.

6. In violation of Mr. Hummel's statutory and due process rights, the court imposed discretionary legal financial obligations without a meaningful factual inquiry into his ability to pay even though presumptively indigent.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

1. To prove a person committed the most serious offense of premeditated murder, the prosecution must show beyond a reasonable doubt that the perpetrator acted not only purposefully, but also after deliberation and reflection. Evidence of premeditation may not be purely speculative or equivocal. There was no evidence of a plan to kill

Ms. Hummel and no evidence about how she died. In the absence of any information about the mechanism of the death and without any prior statements or actions showing any planning occurred, is the speculation regarding premeditation insufficient to prove this essential element beyond a reasonable doubt?

2. When the court instructs the jury that the prosecution must prove an element, and the prosecution does not object, this element becomes a part of the case that the prosecution must establish beyond a reasonable doubt. The to-convict instruction required the prosecution to prove that "the acts" essential to first degree murder occurred in Washington, rather than only some of the acts. When there was no evidence that all essential acts occurred within the state, has the prosecution failed to prove an essential element required by the toconvict instruction?

3. A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on lesser degree offenses when supported by some evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the defense. The court refused Mr. Hummel's request for lesser offense instructions of first and second degree manslaughter even though they are lesser offenses requiring a lesser degree of intent and a juror could have inferred from the evidence that Mr. Hummel

caused Ms. Hummel's death recklessly or negligently. Was Mr. Hummel entitled to instructions for available lesser included offenses?

4. The right to effective assistance of counsel includes the right to receive competent, correct advice before deciding whether to seek a lesser included offense instruction. Defense counsel persuaded Mr. Hummel to withdraw his request for a lesser included offense instruction of second degree murder based on counsel's erroneous advice that the sentences for first and second degree murder where almost identical when, the offense occurred, the ranges were significantly different. Did defense counsel misadvise Mr. Hummel to withdraw his request for an available lesser offense by misadvising Mr. Hummel about the sentence he would face, when it is reasonably probable that the jury would have convicted him of the lesser offense if it was available?

5. Legal financial obligations (LFOs) may not be imposed without an individual inquiry into the accused person's ability to pay. The court imposed several thousand dollars of discretionary LFOs as part of Mr. Hummel's sentence without inquiring into his ability to pay. Did the court impose LFOs in violation of its statutory and constitutional obligations?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

In October 1990, Alice Hummel disappeared. 1RP 49.¹ No one reported her disappearance to authorities until 2001. 1RP 106-07.

Ms. Hummel was married to Bruce Hummel and they had three children. 1RP 20-22. The oldest, Sharinda, was married, lived in another state, and did not have a close relationship to her mother. 1RP 94, 97. The middle child, Sean, was a senior in high school who also "didn't have a great relationship" with his mother at that time. 1RP 54-55, 132, 147. The youngest, S.H., was turning 14 years old in October 1990 and was closest to her mother. 1RP 20, 43.²

Earlier in their marriage, Mr. and Ms. Hummel had been teachers in numerous rural towns in Alaska, but Ms. Hummel had a host of health problems and moved to Whatcom County. 1RP 87-91. She received a monthly disability stipend from the Alaska school system due to her health problems. 1RP 105.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings ("RP") from the trial is consecutively paginated. Any non-trial proceedings are referred to by the date of the proceeding.

 $^{^{2}}$ S.H. is referred to by her initials due to the sensitive nature of her allegations against her father. S.H. now uses her married name. 1RP 20. The other family members are referred to by their first names as needed for purposes of clarity, no disrespect is intended.

In the mid-1980s, Mr. Hummel left his job as a principal in Alaska so the family could be together. 1RP 92, 115. He worked fixing homes for a real estate agent, was a substitute teacher, and made extra money collecting pinecones sold as potpourri. 1RP 33-35. The children recalled that money was tight and there was regular bickering among the siblings and the parents. 1RP 35-36, 95, 121-22, 131.

One afternoon near October 18, 1990, Bruce Hummel told Sean and S.H. that Ms. Hummel had flown to California for a job interview. 1RP 47, 134. Sean knew Ms. Hummel was looking for work in California but did not know about a job interview. 1RP 135. S.H. was surprised that Ms. Hummel had left because the two had tickets to a ballet performance in a few days. 1RP 43. Sharinda was not surprised because her parents had moved often for jobs as she was growing up. 1RP 112. Later, Mr. Hummel said Ms. Hummel was starting the job in California without returning and over time, he said she met another man, moved to Texas, and wanted to start a new life. 1RP 51-52, 98, 137-38. When they got older, the children looked for Ms. Hummel but never found her. 1RP 57, 102-03, 162-63.

In 2008, the prosecution charged Mr. Hummel with one count of first degree premeditated murder. CP 5. The police searched for

evidence indicating how Ms. Hummel might have disappeared, including using cadaver dogs, ground penetrating radar, and other tools to search for residual forensic traces. 1RP 183-85; 2RP 229, 230, 259-60, 320-21, 327, 331. The investigation did not locate useful evidence. 2RP 259-60, 348-49, 353; 3RP 389, 401. They also searched through national databases to see if she was living elsewhere, but could not find her name or social security number after the time she disappeared. 2RP 318; 3RP 415, 419-21.

In 2004, when police first asked Mr. Hummel what happened to Ms. Hummel, he wrote a long letter addressed to Officer Les Gitts that a neighbor found and gave to the police. 2RP 219. The letter said he found Ms. Hummel dead in her bathroom, having committed suicide, and at her request, he did not tell their children and disposed of the body in the Bellingham Bay. 2RP 221-26. The police could not corroborate any aspect of this account: physically, Mr. Hummel could not have lifted Ms. Hummel's body into his van as the letter described, there were no traces of blood in the bathroom even though the amount of blood would have left some trace, and Bellingham Bay was not windy on the night in question as stated in the letter. 2RP 324, 327, 331, 366-67; 3RP 395-96; 4RP 483.

Mr. Hummel admitted that after Ms. Hummel died, he continued cashing her disability checks. 2RP 205-06. For this offense, he was convicted of wire fraud in federal court. 2RP 242. He also admitted that he had sexually abused his youngest daughter, S.H., mostly by having her touch him inappropriately. 1RP 40; 2RP 214. S.H. said that about two days before Ms. Hummel disappeared, she had told her mother about the abuse and believed Ms. Hummel would confront Mr. Hummel. 1RP 44-45.

After a jury trial in 2009, Mr. Hummel was convicted of first degree murder; a conviction that rested in part on a fellow jail inmate's testimony claiming Mr. Hummel confessed. CP 34. Mr. Hummel's conviction was overturned on appeal due to an improper courtroom closure. CP 30. This jail inmate did not testify at the second trial. Mr. Hummel was convicted of premediated murder. CP 247. No lesser included offenses were presented to the jury. CP 227-46; 4RP 557-60. Mr. Hummel was sentenced to the high end of the standard range. CP 302, 305.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

- 1. Where the prosecution rested its case for premeditation on equivocal, wholly speculative assertions, the State failed to prove the essential elements first degree murder
 - a. The prosecution bears the burden of proving all essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

The burden of proving the essential elements of a crime unequivocally rests upon the prosecution. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all essential elements is an "indispensable" threshold of evidence the State must establish to garner a conviction. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364.

To determine whether there is sufficient evidence for a conviction, reasonable inferences are construed in favor of the prosecution but they may not rest on speculation. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed. 2d 560 (1979); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "[E]vidence is insufficient to support a verdict where mere speculation, rather than reasonable inference, supports the government's case." *United States v. Nevils*, 598 F.3d 1158, 1167 (9th Cir. 2010). "When intent is an element of the crime" it "may not be inferred from conduct that is

'patently equivocal.'" *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 7, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

To convict Mr. Hummel of first degree murder, "the State [was] required to prove both intent and premeditation, which are not synonymous." *State v. Sargent,* 40 Wn.App. 340, 352, 698 P.2d 598 (1985) (citing *State v. Brooks,* 97 Wn.2d 873, 651 P.2d 217 (1982)). First degree murder requires the defendant act "with premeditated intent to cause the death of another person." RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a). Premeditation distinguishes first degree murder from second degree murder. *Brooks,* 97 Wn.2d at 876.

b. Premeditation requires evidence of deliberation and reflection in forming the intent to kill beforehand.

Premeditation means "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life" and involves "the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short." *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 644, 904 P.2d 245, *cert. denied*, 518 U.S. 1026 (1995) (quoting *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597-98, 888 P.2d 1105, *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 843 (1995)); RCW 9A.32.020(1). It requires deliberation lasting "more than a moment in point of time." *Id.* at 644. A mere opportunity to deliberate is not sufficient to support a finding of premeditation.

Premeditation is not proven by showing the act causing death occurred over an appreciable amount of time, because to do so "obliterates the distinction between first and second degree murder." *State v. Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d 820, 826, 719 P.2d 109 (1986). "Having the opportunity to deliberate is not evidence the defendant did deliberate, which is necessary for a finding of premeditation." *Id*.

Impulsive or spontaneous acts causing someone's death are not premeditated. *State v. Luoma*, 88 Wn.2d 28, 34, 558 P.2d 756 (1977). Where killing occurred in the heat of passion, it may have been intentional but not premeditated. *State v. Bolen*, 142 Wash. 653, 666, 254 P. 445 (1927).

In *Austin v. United States*, the court reviewed the historical development of premeditation as a requirement separate from intent in murder prosecutions and the critical distinction between the two elements. 382 F.2d 129, 133-36 (D.C.Cir. 1967), *overruled on other grounds by United States v. Foster*, 783 F.2d 1082, 1085 (D.C.Cir.1986). The "crux" is whether the accused engaged in a "process of reflection and meditation." *Id.* at 136. The jury needs to be

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that there was "an appreciable time after the design was conceived and that in this interval there was a further thought, and a turning over in the mind - and not a mere persistence of the initial impulse of passion." *Id.* at 137.

In *Bingham*, the defendant met the victim on a bus and later that day they hitchhiked on a rural highway. 105 Wn.2d at 821. The victim was later found dead and evidence showed the defendant held his hand over her mouth, strangling her before raping her. *Id*. Although the Supreme Court found *time* for deliberation, it found no evidence from which the jury might have inferred *actual* deliberation. *Id*. at 827. The Court held that the mere passage of time for the killing to occur, in that case the approximately 3 to 5 minutes it took to kill by manual strangulation, showed only an opportunity to deliberate and by itself was insufficient to sustain the premeditation element absent evidence that the defendant did in fact deliberate. *Id*. at 822, 826.

c. The State found no evidence showing Mr. Hummel's deliberation prior to Ms. Hummel's presumed death.

No witness knew what caused Ms. Hummel's presumed death. Her body was never found and a substantial part of the trial was devoted to whether she died or simply moved away. Despite extensive

searching, the police did not locate any forensic traces indicating how, where or when she might have died such as blood evidence or a potential weapon. There is a complete absence of evidence showing what happened to Ms. Hummel.

There is no evidence that Mr. Hummel plotted to kill Ms. Hummel. He did not make statements indicating a desire to see her dead or gather materials to use for attacking someone. While he took advantage of her disability checks *after* she disappeared by using them to cover his expenses, he did not take actions *before* she disappeared that would indicate a plan to kill her, such as getting a life insurance policy, changing a will, or altering a bank account. There was no evidence of his financial fraud before Ms. Hummel disappeared. Taking her disability income after she disappeared does not indicate the preplanning that marks premeditation.

The State's theory of premeditation was just as speculative as a theory of intentional but not premeditated killing. It reasoned that Mr. Hummel had a motive to kill Ms. Hummel, because his daughter had just told her mother that he was sexually abusing her. 5RP 588. Yet "[w]e do not infer criminal intent from evidence that is patently equivocal." *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 14. "[I]nferences based on

circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." *Id.* at 16.

Vasquez was a forgery case where the prosecution needed to prove the defendant possessed fraudulent documents with the intent to defraud. 178 Wn.2d at 7. The Court of Appeals had affirmed the conviction, reasoning why else would Mr. Vasquez have a falsified social security card and permanent resident card other than intending to defraud an employer or the police. *Id.* at 6. The Supreme Court reversed due to the impermissible speculation underlying the conviction. It unanimously found insufficient evidence of the required intent because the defendant's conduct and surrounding circumstances did not "plainly indicate such an intent as a matter of logical probability." *Id*.

Vasquez relied in part on *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 331, 150 P.3d 59 (2006), where the court found insufficient evidence to infer the intent manufacture methamphetamine when the defendant shoplifts an illegal amount of pseudoephedrine, The "mere assertion that [pseudoephedrine] is *known to be used* to manufacture methamphetamine does not necessarily lead to the logical inference that Brockob intended to do so, without more." *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 8-9 (quoting *Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d at 331-32).

These cases reaffirm the fundamental principle that proof of an element of a crime may not rest on speculation or equivocal evidence. To prove premeditated intent, motive alone is insufficient absent evidence of planning, statements of intent, or the nature of the wounds causing death.

In most murder prosecutions, premeditation is based on how the injuries were inflicted or how the parties acted at the time of the acts causing death occurred. *See State v. Sherrill*, 145 Wn.App. 473, 485, 186 P.3d 1157 (2008) ("In cases of premeditated intent to cause death, the cause of death is a significant factor" proving premeditation). For example, in *Ollens* the defendant claimed he acted in self-defense but the victim's throat was slit through multiple slashing motions and he was also separately stabbed four times in different parts of his body. *State v. Ollens*, 107 Wn.2d 848, 853, 733 P.2d 984 (1987). The *Ollens* Court found there was sufficient evidence for the State to present the question of premeditation to the jury because there were multiple, separately inflicted knife wounds, as opposed to one continuous act; the defendant's procured a weapon, unlike a case where the killing was inflicted manually; Ollens struck the victim from behind, favoring some

deliberate planning; and Ollens had the motive of committing a robbery. *Id*.

Another case found sufficient evidence of premeditation when the defendant had talked about killing his wife's friend, told others he was buying a gun, bought a gun the day he went to the place that he knew his wife's friend was living and shot him after slowly loading his gun. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 832-33, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). "The time and planning here is sufficient to show that Charles reflected upon his decision to take Ron's life" and his methodical loading and pointing of the gun "indicate premeditation." *Id*.

There was no evidence of planning activity by Mr. Hummel before Ms. Hummel's presumed death. The nature of whatever may have caused her death did not show a preconceived plan. And while there was a motive in that Ms. Hummel had learned that Mr. Hummel had been sexually abusing their youngest child, this motive alone cannot reasonably or logically establish that premeditated intent had formed. Mr. Hummel made no threats toward his daughter to stop her from telling others such as siblings, friends or the authorities. Even without Ms. Hummel, the risk remained that his daughter could accuse him of abuse. Likewise, the financial benefit of being able to access Ms.

Hummel's disability payments show Mr. Hummel took advantage of Ms. Hummel's absence but there is no evidence he arranged her killing for that purpose. The checks came to the family's home in the mail as they had done before she disappeared. There was no evidence that he took the money to purchase luxuries or alter his style of living.

An unplanned or impulsive killing may be intentional, but without premediated deliberation. *See Bingham*, 105 Wn.2d at 826. Premeditation substantially increases the available punishment. RCW 9.94A.515 (setting seriousness level for offenses); RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid setting standard range based on offense's seriousness level). It is an independently required element the State must prove. RCW 9A.32.020(1)(a); RCW 9A.32.040(1)(a). A confrontation between Ms. and Mr. Hummel is just as likely to have caused an unplanned and impulsive act resulting in Ms. Hummel's death or disappearance than stemming from a preconceived plan to kill Ms. Hummel.

Where the State is unable to offer evidence of planning or show the nature of the killing occurred in circumstances from which deliberate intent could be logically inferred, the State has not met its

burden of proving there was a purposeful, intentional killing resulting from premeditated deliberation.

d. Insufficient evidence of an essential element of a crime requires reversal.

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