FILED
October 30, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72068-6-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

### **BRUCE HUMMEL**, Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By Kimberly Thulin Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA # 21210

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

#

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

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. Looking at the direct and circumstantial evidence in the light most favorable to the state, there is sufficient evidence to support the jury finding Hummel murdered Alice Hummel with premeditated intent.

Hummel first asserts the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding that Hummel acted with 'premeditated' intent despite the fact that the direct and circumstantial evidence below sufficiently reasonably demonstrates Hummel acted with ample motive and a sufficient plan that enabled him to effectively conceal Alice's murder so he could poison Alice's memory to her children, steal her monthly disability pension for financial support and continue to sexually molest S.K.. Hummel's argument should be rejected.

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case is made by examining whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the state's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from them. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). This Court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Walton, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992).

A person is guilty of first degree murder when with a premeditated intent to cause the death of another person, he causes the death of that person. RCW 9A.32.030(1). Premeditation involves "more than a moment

of time." RCW 9A.32.120(1). Mere opportunity to deliberate is not sufficient to support a finding of premeditation. Id. Premeditation is "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life" and involves the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation and reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597-98, 888 P.2d 1105 (1985), State v. Ollens, 107 Wn.2d 848, 733 P.2d 984 (1987). A wide range of facts can support an inference of premeditation. Id. Four characteristics not required but are particularly relevant to establishing premeditation are motive, procurement of a weapon, stealth and the method of the killing. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 597, 888 P.2d 1105, quoting, State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992).

Premeditation may be proven by circumstantial evidence where the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the evidence supporting the jury finding is substantial. Id. Hummel confirmed Alice died on October 18<sup>th</sup> 1990. At that time Hummel had significant motive to kill Alice. Alice knew three to five days before she died, that Hummel had been sexually molesting S.K.. S.K. was confident that Alice would take care of the molestation and Hummel admitted to investigators he was confident that if Alice knew of the molestation, she would have confronted him. The jury could reasonably infer from this evidence that Alice did in

fact confront Hummel, particularly since Alice was killed within days of S.K.'s revelation. Further, Hummel was motivated to kill Alice in a manner to conceal her death so he could steal her disability payments for financial support, continue to molest S.K. and convince anyone interested in Alice's whereabouts, that she had abandoned her family.

Hummel's manner of concealing Alice's murder also demonstrated the killing was premeditated and intentional. Alice by all accounts rarely left the Hummel home. Yet, investigators could find no evidence Alice died in the home as Hummel claimed; based on biomechanics and forensics. Based on biomechanical evidence, Hummel could not have moved Alice's dead body from the home if she had died in the houseeither of her own hand or in a heat of the moment physical confrontation with Hummel. Moreover, there was no forensic evidence in the home to support a finding Alice was killed or died there. This evidence reasonably infers Hummel lured Alice out of the home prior to killing her. Killing Alice outside the home in a manner that concealed her death allowed Hummel to assert Alice had abandoned her children, steal Alice's disability and continue to molest S.K.. There is substantial circumstantial evidence in the record therefore, that reasonably demonstrates Hummel killed Alice in a manner that required a premeditated plan.

Hummel relies on State v. Bingham, 105 Wn.2d 820, 719 P.2d 820 (1986), to argue evidence in this case is insufficient to support the jury's verdict on premeditation. In Bingham, the court held the manner of death, strangulation that took anywhere from 3-5 minutes, showed only that Bingham an opportunity to deliberate and contemplate taking a life but was insufficient, standing alone, to sustain the element of premeditation. The Bingham court's decision is limited in application and distinguishable from the facts in this case where Hummel not only had opportunity to premeditate murder but ample motive and used a method that required a plan. Id at 827.

In <u>State v. Ollens</u>, 107 Wn.2d 848, our state supreme court recognized premeditation may be predicated on circumstantial evidence where not only opportunity to premeditate exists from the manner of the death but where the defendant also has motive to kill. In <u>Ollens</u>, the defendant stabbed his victim multiple times and then slashed his throat in order to execute a robbery. Id. The evidence suggested Ollens attacked his victim from behind. The Court held these facts, as distinguished from <u>Bingham</u>, supported the jury's finding that Ollens killed with premeditation and deliberation. *See also*, <u>State v. Neslund</u>, 50 Wn.App. 531, 749 P.2d 725 (1988). (No-body homicide prosecution, evidence of stormy and violent relationship between Neslund and victim, including

prior threats and concern by the victim prior to the murder that Neslund was mismanaging their money provided motive for murder sufficient to support the jury's finding the murder was premeditated).

Hummel's argument that there is insufficient evidence to support the jury finding of premeditation is not supported by the record. Similar to Ollens and Neslund, Hummel had more than just mere opportunity to kill Alice. Hummel was motivated to kill her for financial and personal reasons. Hummel had previously physically abused Alice and the two had a very contentious relationship. Moreover, the very manner of Alice's convenient 'disappearance' when the Hummel children were at school and concealment of her body reflect circumstantially that Hummel planned and executed Alice's murder in a manner to avoid detection, allowed him to steal Alice's disability payments and continue molesting S.K..

Hummel's motive combined with his method of killing Alice in a manner away from the home that concealed her murder from her family and authorities reasonably infers Hummel acted with deliberate premeditated thought.

2. There is sufficient evidence in the record to support the jury's finding that Hummel committed the 'acts' of premeditated murder in the state of Washington.

Prior to trial Hummel filed a motion to dismiss for lack of venue asserting the state had not alleged any of Hummel's acts in killing Alice occurred in Whatcom County. CP 192-3. The trial court denied Hummel's motion after the state asserted in response, that the inferences from the circumstantial evidence established the crime occurred in Whatcom County, where Alice lived and was last seen alive.

Now, for the first time on appeal Hummel argues the state failed to sufficiently prove Hummel murdered in the state of Washington as set forth in the 'to convict' jury instructions. Br. of App. at 19. Drawing all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the state, a rational trier of fact could reasonably find Hummel murdered Alice in the state of Washington.

Venue is proper when prosecution is commenced in a county where an element of the crime charged allegedly occurred. CrR 5.1, Wash., Const. Art. 1, sec. 22. (amendment 10). Venue is not an element of a crime nor a matter of jurisdiction. State v. Hardamon, 29 Wn. 2d 182, 188, 186 P. 2d 634 (1947), State v. Escue, 6 Wash. App. 607, 495 P. 2d 351 (1972). However, if the evidence reveals a genuine issue of fact regarding

venue, the question becomes an issue for the trier of fact to determine venue is proper by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). Hummel did not take exception to the proposed jury instructions or request that the state prove venue was properly laid in Whatcom County to jury by a preponderance of the evidence. Hummel therefore waived this non-constitutional issue. See, State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). Moreover, any procedural error regarding venue is harmless because the evidence presented at trial is such that any reasonable jury would have found proper venue resided in Whatcom County where Alice was last living with her family when she was killed. State v. McCorkle, 63 Wn.App. 798, 801, 822 P.2d 795 (1992).

While there is no genuine issue of fact regarding venue and Hummel did not request the jury be instructed to find venue was proper in Whatcom County by a preponderance of the evidence, the trial court nonetheless included within the 'to convict' instruction that the state had the burden of proving the "acts" as alleged "occurred in the state of Washington" beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 242 (instruction 12). See, Br. of app. at 20, *citing* State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Hummel now asserts the jury's jurisdictional finding is not supported by sufficient evidence.

The sufficiency of the evidence reviews whether, when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found evidence to prove the essential elements, including venue beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. Direct testimony is not necessary to prove venue. It is enough if inferences from circumstantial evidence show that venue was properly laid. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 45 Wn.App. 794, 796, 727 P.2d 693 (1986), *review denied*, 107 Wn.2d 1035 (1987).

When viewed in the light most favorable to the state, the inferences from the evidence presented in this case support the jury determination that Hummel committed the 'acts' of first degree premeditated murder within the state of Washington. Alice lived in the state of Washington with Hummel in Whatcom County until the day she was murdered. Alice was in her Whatcom County home Thursday and or Friday morning with Hummel and was gone when her children returned from school Friday afternoon. Hummel admits she was dead. Moreover, the circumstances of Alice's murder reasonably suggest Hummel made a plan to kill Alice prior to her death, while he was living with Alice in Whatcom County. In order to kill Alice in a manner to conceal her death, enable Hummel to steal her pension and continue to molest S.K., Hummel was tied geographically to the Hummel home in executing this murder.

Evidence that Hummel was living with the family prior to the murder and was the only person home when the children returned from school that Friday reasonably infers Hummel committed his crime within a reasonably close distance to the Hummel home and does not support the supposition that Hummel went through the Canadian border or traveled south or east at least 6 hours to get to another state to either murder or dispose of Alice's body. The facts instead reasonably suggest Hummel planned Alice's murder in Washington, stayed in the area he was most familiar with; likely in the remote areas and logging roads in Whatcom County, to hide and conceal Alice's murder. Circumstantial evidence therefore supports the jury's determination that Hummel's crime occurred in the State of Washington beyond a reasonable doubt. See, state v. Hurlbert, 153 Wn.2d 60, 279 P. 123 (1929).

3. Hummel provided no affirmative evidence to support a theory that he recklessly or negligently caused Alice's death and therefore was not entitled to have the jury instructed on the charge of either first or second degree manslaughter.

Hummel asserts that the trial court erred denying his request to have the jury consider manslaughter in the first or second degree even though no evidence in the record affirmatively supports a contention that Hummel recklessly or negligently caused Alice's death.

A defendant is entitled to a requested lesser included instruction when every element of the lesser included offense is a necessary element of the charged offense *and* the factual evidence supports the inference that only the lesser included crime was committed. State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). The trial court in this case concluded Hummel failed to demonstrate the *factual evidence* in the record supported the inference that Hummel was only guilty of the lesser included crimes of manslaughter in the first or second degree and therefore declined to give the requested instructions.

In examining whether the evidence supports the factual prong of the Workman test, this Court must determine if the trial court, in examining the record in the light most favorable to Hummel, abused its discretion determining the evidence did not affirmatively establish that Hummel either recklessly or negligently caused Alice's death, as opposed to premeditated murder as alleged by the state. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454-55, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000), State v. Lucky, 128 Wn.2d 727, 731, 912 P.2d 483 (1996), overruled on other grounds, State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 947 P.2d 700 (1997).

Hummel argues if the jury didn't believe Hummel premediated

Alice's murder, the evidence could support a theory that Hummel instead
recklessly or negligently caused her death. Hummel's reliance on the jury

disbelieving the state's evidence and theory is in of itself, insufficient to support Hummel's request for lesser included manslaughter jury instruction. See, Br. of App. at 26, citing Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 208, 93 S.Ct. 1993, 36 L.Ed.2d 844 (1973). Instead, the Workman test required Hummel demonstrate below that evidence in the record affirmatively supports his request for manslaughter instructions. Hummel's reliance on Keeble to assert that a less stringent standard of evidence should apply when considering whether to give a lesser included instruction is misguided. Keeble, while a United State Supreme Court decision, is based on the federal rules of criminal procedure, not Constitutional considerations or provisions and as such, is not applicable here. Workman continues to set forth the appropriate considerations the trial court was required to weigh in determining whether to give the lesser included jury instructions Hummel requested. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454-55, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

The evidence presented at trial did not affirmatively infer that

Hummel recklessly or negligently killed Alice. Hummel admitted Alice
was dead but never acknowledged he played any part in her death. At
most, Hummel stated Alice killed herself. Additionally, no forensic
evidence was found at the Hummel home to support the inference Alice
died there and the children recalled no heated or physical altercations

between Hummel and Alice in the week prior to Alice's alleged 'disappearance' at the home that could have provided a basis for Hummel to assert the evidence affirmatively suggested Alice died accidentally or recklessly in the passion of the moment as a result of his actions.

The evidence instead revealed Alice knew Hummel was molesting S.K. 3-5 days before she was killed and had let S.K. feel reassured she would take care of the molestation problem. Hummel admitted to investigators, that if Alice knew of the molestation, he was confident she would have confronted him about it. This evidence infers Alice did confront Hummel and Hummel, motivated by not wanting to face consequences for the molestation or change in lifestyle formed a plan to kill Alice in a manner that would conceal her death, would not alert his children or authorities, allow him to continue to be financially supported by Alice's pension and finally would allow him to continue to molest S.K.. The evidence examined in the light most favorable to Hummel was at best that Alice killed herself or really 'abandoned' her family; neither of these alternatives supported the theory Hummel negligently or recklessly killed Alice. In light of the evidence presented below, the trial court did not abuse its discretion concluding there was no evidence to support lesser included manslaughter first or second or assault in the fourth degree jury instructions.

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